25 April 2019

Original: English

Disarmament Commission New York, 8–29 April 2019* Agenda item 5

> Recommendations to promote the practical implementation of transparency and confidence-building measures in outer space activities with the goal of preventing an arms race in outer space, in accordance with the recommendations set out in the report of the Group of Governmental Experts on Transparency and Confidence-Building Measures in Outer Space Activities

Working paper submitted by Nigeria (on behalf of the African Group)

1. The African Group considers that developments in the geopolitical environment and in military capabilities, coupled with increasing civilian and military dependence on space-based systems, continue to compel close international attention to space security issues and the potential for competition in space-related military capabilities. In this respect, the Group is concerned that the prospects of an arms race in outer space could involve the deployment of weapons in outer space, the pursuit of policies based on military dominance in outer space and the further development of various anti-satellite capabilities.

2. The Group recognizes the common interest of all humankind and the inalienable, legitimate sovereign rights of all States in the exploration and use of outer space for exclusively peaceful purposes, reconfirms its stand to oppose and reject any act denying or violating it and emphasizes that prevention of an arms race in outer space, including a ban on the deployment or use weapons in outer space, would avert a grave danger to international peace and security.

3. The Group underlines the importance of the urgent negotiations and the early conclusion of an international legally binding instrument to prohibit the placement and use of weapons, and prevent an arms race, in outer space.

4. The Group underscores that while voluntary transparency and confidencebuilding measures may partially contribute to reducing mistrust and enhancing the safety of outer space operations in the short term by avoiding accidents resulting from mistakes or miscalculations, they cannot represent a substitute for a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including the prohibition

^{*} The 2019 substantive session of the Disarmament Commission did not take place during the dates mandated by the General Assembly in its resolution 73/82.





Please recycle

of the placement of any weapons in outer space, as well as the threat or use of force against objects in outer space. Some transparency and confidence-building measures could also be integrated into a future legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

5. The Group proposes that under this agenda item the Disarmament Commission:

(a) Recognize the common interest of all humankind and the inalienable, legitimate sovereign rights of all States in the exploration and use of outer space for exclusively peaceful purposes;

(b) Emphasize that prevention of an arms race in outer space, including a ban to deploy or use weapons therein, is essential for ensuring the exploration and use of outer space for peaceful purposes only and also for the promotion of international peace and security;

(c) Underscore the paramount importance of strict compliance with existing arms limitation and disarmament agreements relevant to outer space, including bilateral agreements, and with the existing legal regime concerning the use of outer space;

(d) Express serious concern regarding the severe negative implications on international peace and security and on the long-term sustainability of outer space activities as a result of:

(i) the development and deployment of anti-ballistic missile defence systems, and the threat of weaponization of outer space or turning outer-space into a battlefield, especially in the light of the abrogation of the Treaty between the United States of America and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics on the Limitation of Anti-Ballistic Missile Systems (ABM Treaty);

(ii) the extensive development, stockpiling and testing by a few States of weapons that are specifically designed for the sole purpose of conducting armed attacks against satellites or other objects in outer space, including anti-satellite weapons, or for the use as an outer space weapon;

(iii) the deployment of strategic missile defence systems which could trigger an arms race and lead to the further development of advanced missile systems and an increase in the number of nuclear weapons;

(iv) the placement of any weapons, offensive or defensive, in outer space;

(e) Call upon the Conference on Disarmament to commence its substantive work and negotiations as soon as possible, inter alia, on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, taking into consideration the resolutions of the General Assembly on the "Prevention of an arms race in outer space" and "No first placement of weapons in outer space" as well as the progress made in the discussions of the Group of Governmental Experts established pursuant to General Assembly resolution 72/250 on "Further practical measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space", as reflected in the draft final report of the Group of Governmental Experts, which represents a good basis for future discussions;¹

(f) Urge all Member States, in particular those with major space capabilities, to contribute actively to the goal of preventing an arms race in outer space;

(g) Underline the importance of, and calls for, the promotion and strengthening of international cooperation in the exploration and use of outer space

¹ The draft report of the Group of Governmental Experts established pursuant to General Assembly resolution 72/250 is annexed to the present working paper.

for peaceful purposes including by paying particular attention to the benefit and the interests of developing countries;

(h) Encourage Member States to consider, as appropriate, implementing transparency and confidence-building measures on a voluntary basis, pending the early conclusion of legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, such as:

- Exchanges on military doctrines, strategies and policies relevant to outer space
- Pre-launch notification of spacecraft
- Enhanced registration of space objects
- Enhanced sharing of space situational awareness data
- Notifications of scheduled manoeuvres and predicted conjunctions
- Advance notification of intentional orbital breakups
- Notifications on possible active debris removal operations

(i) Encourage additional work within the United Nations system in order to deepen technical discussions and broaden areas of agreement, including on issues related to the development of possible means of verifying basic obligations that could be contained in a legally binding instrument.

Annex¹

Draft report of the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space*

Contents

			Page
I.	Introduction		5
II.	General considerations pertaining to substantial elements of a legally binding instrument		6
III.	Substantial elements of a legally binding instrument		8
	А.	Elements for the preamble	9
	В.	Elements on basic obligations	11
	C.	Elements on definitions	12
	D.	Elements on verification	13
	E.	Elements on transparency and confidence building	14
	F.	Elements on implementation and institutional arrangements	15
	G.	Elements on peaceful uses of outer space and international cooperation	16
	H.	Elements on final provisions	16
IV.	Conclusions and recommendations		16

^{*} Circulated in the language of submission only and without formal editing.

¹ The annex contains the text, submitted by the delegation of Nigeria on behalf of the African Group, of a document circulated at the Group of Governmental Experts on Further Practical Measures for the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space (GE-PAROS/2019/CRP.2 version 2019 03 29 13:00). The Group considered several drafts of a substantive report. No consensus was reached. The procedural report of the Group of Governmental Experts was adopted on 5 April 2019 and will be issued as document A/74/77.

I. Introduction

1. The Group was established in accordance with and worked on the basis of resolution 72/250. The mandate of the Group was to consider and make recommendations on substantial elements of an international legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, inter alia, on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space.

2. In that resolution, the General Assembly recognised that the prevention of an arms race, especially the placement of weapons in outer space, would avert a grave danger for international peace and security. The General Assembly also recognized the primary role and responsibility of the Conference on Disarmament in the negotiation of a multilateral agreement or agreements on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

3. The Group considered issues relevant to its mandate and examined the evolving space security landscape and the prospects for and consequences of an arms race in, and the weaponization of, outer space; the status of international efforts to prevent an arms race in outer space; including the relevance and sufficiency of applicable norms and principles.

4. The Group considered that developments in the geopolitical environment and in military capabilities, coupled with increasing civilian and military dependence on space-based systems, would continue to compel close international attention to space security issues and affect the potential for competition in space-related military capabilities. In this respect, the Group considered the prospects of an arms race in outer space that could involve deployment of weapons in outer space, the pursuit of policies based on military dominance in outer space and the further development of various anti-satellite capabilities.

5. The outcome of the Group's considerations, including its conclusions and recommendations, are set out in this report. These considerations, conclusions and recommendations reflect consensus on important dimensions of the Group's work.

6. In fulfilling its mandate to consider and make recommendations on substantial elements of an international legally binding instrument, the Group adopted an inclusive approach based on a pool of elements and recorded a diverse range of views on those elements without prejudice to national positions or matters that might be raised in any future negotiations.

7. There was a range of views among the Group on the best approach for the prevention of an arms race in outer space. Some advocated for the commencement of negotiation on the treaty on the prevention of placement of weapons in outer space, the threat or use of force against outer space objects. Others supported the elaboration of non-legally binding norms of responsible behaviour, including the implementation of voluntary transparency and confidence-building measures. Still others supported an approach on a legally binding instrument on PAROS that incorporates elements of the other approaches.

8. The Group met in Geneva in two two-week sessions, the first in August 2018 and the second in March 2019. Its members included experts from 25 Member States, including Algeria, Argentina, Australia, Belarus, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Egypt, France, Germany, India, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Italy, Japan, Kazakhstan, Malaysia, Nigeria, Pakistan, the Republic of Korea, Romania, the Russian Federation, South Africa, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. The Group was chaired by Ambassador Guilherme de Aguiar Patriota (Brazil).

9. Prior to the first session, the Group benefited from an International Workshop on the Prevention of an Arms Race in Outer Space, which was convened in Beijing in July 2018 by the Office for Disarmament Affairs, together with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of China and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Russian Federation.

10. In accordance with resolution 72/250, the Chair of the Group convened a two-day open-ended intersessional informal consultative meeting, from 31 January to 1 February 2019, so that all Member States could engage in interactive discussions and share their views on the basis of a report on the work of the Group provided by the Chair in his own capacity.² At that meeting, the Chair also organized a series of panels in order to facilitate engagement and interaction between Member States and the broader outer space community, including representatives of national space agencies, the commercial sector and civil society.

11. During its sessions in Geneva, the Group benefited from presentations by the United Nations Institute of Disarmament Research and independent experts, including the International Committee of the Red Cross, the Prague Security Studies Institute, Center for International and Security Studies at Maryland (University of Maryland), the University of Texas at Austin, the University of Adelaide and Keldysh Institute of Applied Mathematics (Russian Academy of Sciences). The Group also benefited from presentations, working papers and other inputs from its own members. The Group also received written inputs from non-members of the Group, including non-governmental organizations.³

II. General considerations pertaining to substantial elements of a legally binding instrument

12. The Group was established in accordance with and worked on the basis of resolution 72/250. The mandate of the Group is to consider and make recommendations on substantial elements of an international legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, including, inter alia, on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space.

13. The Group discussed issues relevant to its mandate, and it examined the evolving space security landscape and the prospects for and consequences of an arms race in, and the weaponization of, outer space; the status of international efforts to prevent an arms race in outer space; including the relevance and sufficiency of applicable norms and principles.

14. The Group discussed general characteristics of an arms race in outer space. They considered that such an arms race entails a rivalry between two or more States, the development of competing military capabilities and the acceleration of spending in the quantitative or qualitative development of weapons. The Group reviewed the current situation with respect to security challenges related to outer space. Specific concerns included the growing number of objects in space, policies that consider outer space to be a warfighting domain, research and development of space-to-space and ground-to-space anti-satellite capabilities and space-to-ground weapon capabilities, as well as the possible placement of weapons in space and the possible use of force

² Materials from the open-ended intersessional informal consultative meeting are available on the website of the Office for Disarmament Affairs.

³ Working papers made publicly available by the members of the Group as well as written inputs from non-members are accessible in the Official Documents System of the United Nations under the symbol series GE-PAROS/2019/WP.1-[7].

against space objects and the ground-based infrastructure from which they are operated.

15. Those contextual discussions were consolidated into four general groups of potential elements: (1) The existing legal regime in outer space and elements of general principles; (2) Elements of basic obligations; (3) Elements related to monitoring, verification, and transparency and confidence-building measures, and (4) elements related to international cooperation, institutional arrangements, and final provisions. The elements they discussed were not mutually exclusive and can be combined in different ways for a possible future legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

16. The Group recognized that the Conference on Disarmament as the single multilateral disarmament negotiating forum has the primary role and responsibility and is the most appropriate body to negotiate a legally binding instrument on the prevention of arms race in outer space. The issue of the prevention of an arms race in outer space has been on the agenda of the General Assembly and the Conference on Disarmament since 1985.

17. The draft treaty on the prevention of placement of weapons in outer space (PPWT) was a recurring topic as the debate progressed. Norms of conduct as well as transparency and confidence building measures were also recurring topics of discussion. Substantive exchanges were not limited to them or by them.

18. The Group agreed that any potential obligations must retain full consistency with the Charter of the United Nations and existing relevant treaties, including disarmament and arms control treaties, and in particular, the Outer Space Treaty, including their principles and obligations. The Group recalled that international law, including the Charter of the United Nations, applies in outer space. The Group discussed certain aspects relating to the applicability of international humanitarian law in outer space. It was noted that the military use of outer space in accordance with international law, including the Outer Space Treaty is not expressly prohibited. Experts debated and expressed various views on whether the existing legal regime can prevent an arms race in space in all its aspects. The Group noted that the existing legal regime does not prevent certain activities that could potentially lead to an arms race in outer space. There was the notion that it would be useful to avoid any attempt to determine what constitutes a possible scenario for the use of force in outer space per UN Charter Article 51.

19. The Group noted that Subsidiary Body 3 on the prevention of an arms race in outer space of the 2018 session of the Conference on Disarmament adopted report (CD/2140). The Group also noted that the United Nations Disarmament Commission discussed the matter during its 2018–2020 cycle. Work relevant to the prevention of an arms race in outer space has also been addressed in the working group on the long-term sustainability of outer space activities of the Committee on the Peaceful Uses of Outer Space and by the 2012–2013 Group of governmental experts on transparency and confidence-building measures in outer space activities.

20. The Group confirmed that verification is one of the essential components of all arms control instruments while acknowledging outer space as a challenging environment in this respect. The Group discussed many approaches to the verification of possible basic obligations. The Group also discussed practical, technical, financial and institutional challenges to the multilateral verification of a legally binding instrument on PAROS, and the implications of these challenges for the effectiveness of any future legally binding measures.

21. The Group discussed various possible threats to outer space activities. While perceptions varied among experts, they considered that a PAROS instrument should

address at least three scenarios: space-to-space; space-to-ground; and ground-tospace. Threats against terrestrial infrastructure related to outer space objects were also discussed. A perspective was presented for organizing threats in a spectrum from reversible and disruptive impacts to irreversible and destructive impacts. These means of attack included: (i) electronic warfare, including jamming and spoofing; (ii) cyberattacks; (iii) directed energy attacks; (iv) orbital-based weapons, including anti-satellite systems; (v) terrestrial-based anti-satellite weapon systems; and (vi) nuclear weapon detonations in outer space.

22. For each type of threat there could be a proportional approach to obligations on harmful or hostile acts against outer space objects, based on the nature of the threat, taking into account challenges associated with attribution, verification, and the dual-use application, civil and military, of outer space objects and capabilities. The Group compiled a wide-ranging "pool" of potential elements of a possible legally binding instrument.

23. The Group discussed definitions at length, linking it to the matter of scope and basic obligations. The experts expressed various views on whether there was a need to compose explicit definitions, explored possible definitions, including those which are already available in existing outer space instruments and differed on whether precise definitions of certain terms would be useful or achievable. Some experts noted that some arms control treaties did not define terms.

24. The Group emphasized that any potential instrument should be non-discriminatory and contain operative provisions on the right to develop technology for peaceful purposes and positive obligations for international cooperation in promoting the peaceful uses outer space, and that an instrument should be designed to avoid hampering peaceful activities, or hindering access to dual-use technologies for peaceful purposes. Support was expressed for including provisions on capacity-building. The role of regional organizations in this regard was considered.

25. Various views were expressed on the institutional arrangements, with a number of experts emphasizing the importance of limiting institutional costs and identifying possible supporting roles for existing United Nations entities. Various views on entry into force were expressed, with many experts supporting an approach based upon a low number of ratifications along with a qualified category of major spacefaring States.

III. Substantial elements of a legally binding instrument

26. While noting the different views on the effectiveness, timing and conditions for a legally binding instrument as outlined in the preceding sections, Experts considered the following possible elements for a legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space. A number considered that such an instrument was necessary to prevent the weaponization of outer space, to maintain international peace and security and to preserve conditions for international cooperation in the peaceful exploration and use of outer space. A number of Experts regarded the draft "Treaty on the Prevention of Placement of Weapons in Outer Space, the Threat or Use of Force against Outer Space Objects" as a good basis for negotiations. A number of other Experts expressed the view that the best way forward is a non-binding agreement on voluntary measures, without ruling out the possibility of a legally binding instrument in the future.

27. The Group considered the practical value of transparency and confidencebuilding measures in outer space activities (TCBMs), which could both contribute to the prevention of an arms race in outer space and to the development of verification of obligations in a legally binding instrument and further complement the existing regime applicable to outer space activities and serve as interim measures.

28. The Group affirmed the applicability of the existing legal framework to the prevention of an arms race in outer space. Some Experts considered, however, that the existing legal framework would not necessarily prevent the weaponization of outer space or the use of force against outer space objects.

A. Elements for the preamble

29. The Group considered the following elements:

Objectives and principles

- Reaffirm the exploration and use of outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, is the province of all humankind;
- Reaffirm that the Moon and other celestial bodies shall be used exclusively for peaceful purposes;
- Recall that the General Assembly of the United Nations, through its resolutions on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, emphasized the need to examine further measures for effective and verifiable multilateral agreements in order to prevent an arms race in outer space;
- Reaffirm the importance of full compliance with the existing multilateral agreements related to outer space activities and recognize that observance of the principles and rules of international law in outer space activities contributes to building trust and confidence between States;
- Exploration and use of outer space for peaceful purposes plays an everincreasing role in the sustainable development and well-being of humankind;
- Space systems, including but not limited to associated ground and space segments, are increasingly central to State domestic security and international peace and security and to the national interests of States;
- Recognize the vulnerability of the outer space environment to the consequences of weaponization and attacks and the impact such actions could have on humankind;
- Recognize the uncertainty inherent in space situational awareness, which may lead to misunderstandings and strategic miscalculation between space faring nations;
- Recognize the risk, threats and wider consequences posed by deliberate attacks that create multiple long-lasting space debris;
- To contribute to the maintenance of international peace and security;
- To prevent an arms race in outer space and to prevent outer space from becoming a domain of hostilities and military confrontation, including through the weaponization of outer space, thereby averting a grave danger to international peace and security;
- To dissuade the research, development, testing, production, acquisition, transfer and stockpiling of weapons specifically designed to target and destroy space objects, including their supporting infrastructure, space surveillance systems, or space-based weapons specifically designed to target terrestrial objects.

- That any instrument should provide for effective verification and transparency measures;
- Nothing in an instrument should impact the exploration and use of outer space for peaceful purposes by all States or hinder access to technologies, including dual-use technologies, exclusively for peaceful purposes;
- To facilitate, and have right to participate in fullest possible exchange of scientific and technical information for the exploration and use of outer space for peaceful purposes.

Principles contained in existing international law (legal underpinning)

30. The Group discussed the principles contained in existing international law, which a legally binding instrument could recall and make explicit reference to. In fulfilling objectives and reaching the goals of PAROS States should act in compliance with principles and norms applicable to outer space contained in the UN Charter and stay committed to the 1967 Outer Space Treaty, the existing international space law and in the disarmament and arms control agreements, as well as in other international legally binding, to which they are party, and non-legally binding instruments, to which they are committed. The Group discussed the following elements:

- The obligation of States Parties to the Treaty Banning Nuclear Weapon Tests in the Atmosphere, in Outer Space and Under Water of 1963 to prevent, and not to carry out any nuclear weapon test explosion, or any other nuclear explosion, at any place under its jurisdiction or control in the atmosphere or beyond its limits, including outer space;
- The Outer Space Treaty obliges the State Parties not to place in orbit around the earth any objects carrying nuclear weapons or any other kinds of weapons of mass destruction, not to install such weapons on celestial bodies, or station such weapons in outer space in any manner;
- The Moon and other celestial bodies should be used exclusively for peaceful purposes, and that the establishment of military bases, installations and fortifications, the testing of any type of weapons and the conduct of military manoeuvres on celestial bodies should remain forbidden;
- In the exploration and use of outer space, including the Moon and other celestial bodies, States should be guided by the principle of co-operation and mutual assistance and should conduct all their activities in outer space, including the moon and other celestial bodies, with due regard to the corresponding interests of all other States Parties to the Treaty;
- The existing legal regime has underpinned the prevention of armed conflict in outer space and provides a reliable foundation for any work on PAROS;
- The existing legal regime does not necessarily address all aspects of the prevention of an arms race in outer space or fully prevent the weaponization of outer space or the deliberate destruction of outer space objects;
- Further expand the international legal regime for outer space activities as contained in applicable international law;
- Reinforce voluntary principles and norms for behavior in outer space;
- The objective of general and complete disarmament under strict and effective international control.

31. The Group discussed the right to individual and collective self-defence, as provided by Article 51 of the Charter of the United Nations.

32. The Group discussed aspects of IHL as it applies in armed conflict. The Group noted that any reference to IHL should not presume the normalization of armed conflict in outer space.

B. Elements on basic obligations

33. This section describes elements that could form basic obligations, including prohibitions, limitations, restrictions or other measures, in a legally binding instrument.

Use of force

34. It was suggested that in addition to reaffirming Article 2 (4) of the Charter of the United Nations in the preamble, a legally binding instrument could include an obligation:

• Not to resort to the threat or use of force against space objects.

Attacks on space objects

35. The Group considered that another approach is to concentrate on actions that may result in the destruction of an outer space object and this could be specified as an obligation:

• Not to undertake any attack against an outer space object resulting in the irreversible damage or destruction of an outer space object.

36. Another approach could specify the nature of the attack by the domain of its origin and entail an obligation not to undertake any attack against an outer space object by means of any weapon deployed in terrestrial locations, including the ground, sea or air, or in outer space.

37. Another approach focuses on the effects of an attack. Such an approach could entail obligations:

- To refrain from any attack which brings about damage to space objects regardless of whether it results in the generation of orbital debris;
- To refrain from any attack which brings about multiple long-lasting orbital debris.

38. The Group discussed yet another approach to obligations focused on the effects of actions across a full spectrum of possible effects encompassing incapacitation, denial, degradation, damage or destruction resulting in effects equivalent to those of a use of force.

39. In addition to provisions relating to the use of force and to acts resulting in the destruction of outer space objects, a legally binding instrument could address the use of any outer space objects to carry out hostile acts. A general approach could entail obligations:

- Not to use any civil outer space object as a means of attack against an outer space object;
- Not to use any outer space object as a means of attack against terrestrial objects.

Attacks against terrestrial infrastructure related to outer space objects

40. To the extent that it is not addressed by any of the provision discussed above, a legally binding instrument could include a separate provision addressing attacks

against terrestrial infrastructure related to outer space objects. A general approach could entail an obligation:

• Not to disrupt or destroy by any means terrestrial infrastructure used to control outer space objects or space surveillance systems.

Developing, testing, stockpiling and deploying weapons

41. A legally binding instrument could include an obligation prohibiting the research, development, testing, acquisition, production, transfer stockpiling and deployment of weapons that are designed for the sole purpose of conducting armed attacks against satellites or other outer space objects from space or ground.

Placement of any weapons in outer space

42. A legally binding instrument could address the placement of weapons in outer space. A basic obligation could be:

• Not to place any weapons in outer space.

43. An obligation on the placement of weapons in outer space could specify the scope of weapons subject to prohibition, including weapons that pose space-to-space or space-to-ground threats.

Acts inconsistent with a legally binding instrument

44. A legally binding instrument could include a provision not to engage in acts inconsistent with the object and purpose of the instrument and not to assist, encourage or induce other States to undertake such acts.

Use or transfer of dual-use equipment, technology and materials

45. A legally binding instrument could affirm the rights of States develop outer space-related technologies for peaceful purposes and to taking into account the needs of developing countries. It should be non-discriminatory and could include a provision to avoid undue restrictions on the use or transfer of outer space-related technologies for peaceful purposes.

C. Elements on definitions

46. The Group discussed possible definitions for several terms, the meaning of which may need to be clarified and agreed upon in any future negotiations. The need for definitions would follow from the scope and nature of obligations. It was considered that to the greatest extent possible, existing definitions in agreed international instruments should be used to ensure consistent use of such terms. A number of reference points for definition were considered, including the draft treaty on the prevention of the placement of weapons in outer space. Even though various views were expressed on possible definitions of these terms and even on whether precise definitions would be useful or achievable. The following terms could require definition in a legally binding instrument on PAROS.

Space object

(Article 1(d) of the Convention on International Liability for Damage Caused by Space Objects and Article 1(b) of the Convention on the Registration of Objects Launched into Outer Space defines a "space object" as follows: "The term 'space object' includes component parts of a space object as well as its launch vehicle and parts thereof.")

- Space weapon
- Weapon in outer space
- Space-to-space weapons
- Space-to-ground weapons
- Ground-to-space weapons
- Converted
- Dual-use
- Disrupt
- Damage
- Destroy
- Denial
- Degradation
- Placed in outer space
- Threat or use of force in outer space
- Space debris
- Armed attack in outer space
- Harmful interference to space objects

D. Elements on verification

47. The Group recognized that multilateral and non-discriminatory verification mechanisms are one of the essential components of any international arms control agreements. The Group agreed that verification measures should be proportional to the nature of the obligations. The Group agreed that any verification mechanism should be adequate to provide credible assurances that States are complying with their treaty obligations. The Group also discussed the extent to which verification should be perfect in order to be effective. It was recognized that comprehensive and intrusive verification might not be practical or cost-effective for some obligations in an instrument on PAROS.

48. The Group considered that verification could rely on a diverse set of tools and measures. It was suggested that certain agreed transparency and confidence-building measures, in addition to an institutional mechanism for dispute settlement and consultations, can complement a verification mechanism.

49. A key challenge in the development of effective verification is the difficulty in currently verifying the nature, characteristics and intended function of an outer space object once placed in orbit. Pre-launch inspections could be an element of effective verification, taking into account a need to balance effectiveness with the burden on the States subject to inspect. The extensive, and growing, dual-use nature of space systems further complicates verification in space, especially in relation to a prohibition on the placement of weapons in outer space. This underscored the need for efforts to strengthen verification capabilities and technologies and attention to complementary transparency and confidence-building measures to reinforce the effectiveness of any future instrument.

50. Verification of any obligations relating to terrestrial systems may be technically simpler than verification of obligations concerning space objects. Such verification,

for example related to verification of anti-satellite missiles, would still require significant political will and may incur cost. The Group noted that verification of terrestrial commitments was important and that other conventional arms control instruments could be a source for potential methodology.

51. Given the complexity of verification, some experts suggested that verification could be addressed through an additional protocol when conditions are right, especially if more sophisticated technologies for verification are developed and readily available. Another view was that verification should be a central and fundamental component of any legally binding instrument from the outset.

52. Due to complexities and challenges associated with verification in a legally binding treaty on PAROS as discussed in this GGE, the Group acknowledged the need for further study on the ways to address its possible elements.

Space situational awareness

53. The Group recognized that the uncertainty in tracking outer space objects is quite high, which creates challenges for the purpose of PAROS. The Group discussed the importance of building capacity in space situational awareness as a means for strengthening transparency and safety of space operations as well as for assisting in characterizing or verifying the behavior of outer space objects, but it was acknowledged that current technology was not capable of assessing intent of any action. It was also considered that international cooperation, including through the United Nations, could be a means of enhancing space situational awareness. However, it was acknowledged that enhanced space situational awareness, although beneficial for space safety, would not be sufficient to ensure verification.

National technical means

54. It is agreed that monitoring and observation activities by States, in order to inform their national assessments regarding the compliance of other parties with their obligations, could complement a multilateral verification mechanism through established procedures. It was suggested that one approach could be based on Article 3 of the Treaty on the Prohibition of the Emplacement of Nuclear Weapons and Other Weapons of Mass Destruction on the Sea-Bed and the Ocean Floor and in the Subsoil. It was also noted that national technical means should be regarded only as complementary means of multilateral verification and that effective measures would need to be developed to prevent misuse of such means.

E. Elements on transparency and confidence building

55. The Group considered that a legally binding instrument on PAROS could include transparency and confidence-building measures, on a voluntary basis, unless agreed otherwise, with a view to promoting trust and confidence in the implementation of its provisions. Experts pointed out such measures should be applicable to all and non-discriminatory. Experts pointed out that transparency and confidence building measures could help generate momentum towards the future negotiation of a legally binding instrument. Furthermore, the adoption of a legally binding instrument could lead to the broader use of TCBMs. Reference was made to the report of the Group of governmental experts on transparency and confidence-building measures in outer space activities (A/68/189*). While noting the work that has been carried in the working group on the long-term sustainability of outer space activities of the Committee on the Peaceful Uses of Outer Space and by the 2012–2013 Group of governmental experts on transparency and confidence-building

measures in outer space activities, the Group highlighted the following measures as especially relevant to the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

- Exchanges on military doctrines, strategies and policies relevant to outer space
- Pre-launch notification of spacecraft
- Enhanced registration of space objects
- Enhanced sharing of space situational awareness data
- Notifications of scheduled manoeuvres and predicted conjunctions
- Advance notification of intentional orbital breakups
- Familiarization visits to space facilities
- Visits to launch sites
- Demonstration of space technologies
- National point of contact
- Notifications on possible active debris removal operations

56. In addition to the above-mentioned TCBMs, consideration could be given to ways to carry out rendezvous and proximity operations (RPOs) so to take appropriate precautionary measures to mitigate any risk of collision and interference in order to contribute to the long-term sustainability of outer space activities. It could also include commitments to carry out RPOs in a cooperative and responsible way.

F. Elements on implementation and institutional arrangements

57. The Group discussed the institutional arrangements of a legally binding instrument, including on ideas for: a conference of States Parties; regular meetings of States, including an intersessional process; and a dedicated secretariat or an implementation support unit. It was emphasized that it would be important to limit any institutional costs as much as possible. Provisions on institutional arrangements would depend on the scope of an instrument, but they could be expected to follow from those contained within other legally binding instruments in the field of disarmament and arms control.

Consultative mechanism and settlement of disputes

58. States Parties can also be encouraged to consider using existing consultative mechanisms, for example, those provided for in article IX of the Outer Space Treaty and in the relevant provisions of the International Telecommunications Union Constitution and Radio Regulations, as amended.

59. Disputes between States Parties related to the implementation of the instrument could be primarily addressed through direct consultations among the Parties concerned and via procedures established for this purpose, including a right by a State Party to request another State Party to clarify the situation.

60. If the clarification does not resolve the concerns, a provision for consultations could be provided. There could also be provisions for regular consultations through bilateral and multilateral diplomatic exchanges and other government-to-government mechanisms, including bilateral, military-to-military, scientific and other channels, can contribute to preventing mishaps, misperceptions and mistrust.

61. Unresolved disputes and incidents of noncompliance could be reported to the United Nations General Assembly and/or the United Nations Security Council including upon the recommendation of the conference of States Parties.

G. Elements on peaceful uses of outer space and international cooperation

62. The Group discussed elements on peaceful uses of outer space and international cooperation. It was considered that an instrument should recognize the right of States Parties to the peaceful exploration and use of outer space, including the development, research, production and use of related technologies. It was further considered that an instrument could include positive obligations in which all the States Parties should undertake to facilitate, and have the right to participate in, the fullest possible exchange of equipment, materials and scientific and technological information for the peaceful exploration of outer space.

63. An instrument could also provide for the States Parties in a position to do so to cooperate in contributing to implementation of the instrument, to the further development of the applications of outer space for peaceful purposes and to promote the sustainability of outer space activities, including through the provision of technical assistance and capacity building, with due consideration for the needs of the developing areas of the world. Such international cooperation could, where appropriate, include, *inter alia*, the exchange of experience, scientific knowledge, technology and equipment for space activities on an equitable and mutually acceptable basis.

H. Elements on final provisions

64. The Group discussed certain possible final provisions for a legally binding instrument including on: amendments, additional protocols; costs; duration; withdrawal; relationships with other instruments; depositary; and entry into force.

65. The Group discussed various considerations for the provision on entry-intoforce. In order to be viable and effective, a legally binding instrument should include participation of the major space-faring nations. Criteria for what constitutes a major space-faring nation will need to be determined. The provision relating to entry into force might not necessarily specify any category of States beyond major space-faring nations. It was considered that the total number of States whose ratifications would be necessary for entry into force should otherwise be kept to a low number, to ensure that the instrument can enter into force at an early date.

66. It was also suggested that there should be a mechanism by which intergovernmental organizations, that carry out activities in outer space, should be able to become bound by the provisions of the legally binding instrument.

IV. Conclusions and recommendations

67. Given the challenges of the outer space and contemporary global security environment, members of the Group underscored the importance of ensuring continued international commitment and attention to further practical measures on the prevention of an arms race in outer space, thereby enhancing global security and the maintenance of international peace. In this regard, the Group agreed that a number of measures including an international legally binding instrument could contribute practically to this goal. 68. The Group underscored the conclusions contained in CD/2140 of 5 September 2018 that growth in the amount of human space activity, coupled with the increased diversity of space operators, fuels the perception that the space domain is becoming increasingly congested and contested. The Group reaffirmed concerns about actions that could trigger misconceptions and miscalculations as well as over the deliberate and intentional use of force in space, from outer space or from terrestrial platforms against outer space objects.

69. In this report, members of the Group have considered and made recommendations on substantial elements of an international legally binding instrument on the prevention of an arms race in outer space.

70. The Group recalled that negotiations for the conclusion of an international agreement or agreements to prevent an arms race in outer space is one of the core issues on the agenda of the Conference on Disarmament and recommended that such work should begin once its programme of work is adopted. This report could help in the future work of the Conference on Disarmament on this issue.

71. Attention should also be given to measures that enhance transparency and confidence between all nations, in particular space-faring nations, in order to complement any further detailed work on a legally binding instrument. Transparency and confidence-building measures could form an integral part of such agreements, or complement them. Further work on voluntary TCBMs open to the participation of all States should be continued.

72. In transmitting the report of the Group of Governmental Experts to the General Assembly at its seventy-fourth session and to the Conference on Disarmament, prior to its 2020 session, the Secretary-General should call upon Member States of the United Nations and the Conference on Disarmament, respectively, to consider, fully examine and invite the views of Member States of the United Nations on the report of the Group. This might help the efforts of the international community on the prevention of an arms race in outer space. The Secretary-General should also make this report available to the wider international community and civil society, including on the websites of the United Nations and the Conference on Disarmament.

73. Additional work should be pursued to expand understanding on areas of commonalities, deepen technical discussions and broaden areas of agreement, including on issues discussed in this report. This should include support for work by scientific, technical and military experts on the development of possible means of verifying basic obligations as well as scope, definitions and the obligations themselves that could be contained in a legally binding instrument, as the Group agreed that all of these are essential components of a future instrument on PAROS.

Finally, the Group demonstrated through the development of substantial elements on an international legally binding instrument that the various perspectives on an instrument should not be an obstacle to future work on the prevention of an arms race in outer space. This could include further detailed work on the identified substantial elements.

74. The Secretary-General should continue to support the efforts of Member States to prevent an arms race in outer space.